IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA

No. 20-0030

STATE OF IOWA

Plaintiff-Appellee,

VS.

LATRICE L. LACEY

Defendant-Appellant

APPEAL FROM THE SCOTT COUNTY DISTRICT COURT

THE HONORABLE STUART P. WERLING

APPELLANT'S BRIEF AND REQUEST FOR ORAL ARGUMENT

Kent A. Simmons
P.O. Box 594
Bettendorf, Iowa 52722
(563) 322-7784
ttswlaw@gmail.com

CERTIFICATE OF COMPLIANCE

- 1. This brief complies with the type-volume limitation of Iowa R. App. P. 6.903(1)(g)(1) or (2) because:
- this brief contains 13,751 words, excluding the parts of the brief exempted by Iowa R. App. P. 6.903.

STATEMENT OF ISSUES FOR REVIEW

I.

WHETHER THE CONVICTION ON COUNT 3 ALONE, WHILE THREE
ADDITIONAL COUNTS WERE AWAITING RETRIAL SHOULD NOT HAVE
BEEN CONSIDERED A FINAL JUDGMENT FOR THE PURPOSE OF
APPEAL BECAUSE THE INTERESTS OF JUDICIAL ECONOMY ARE NOT
SERVED BY THE LITIGATION OF MULTIPLE APPEALS ON A SINGLE
CASE

State v. Clark, 814 N.W.2d 551 (Iowa 2012)

State v. Mootz, 808 N.W.2d 207 (Iowa 2012)

State v. Klinger, 144 NW 2d 150 (Iowa 1966)

State v. Coughlin, 200 NW 2d 525 (Iowa 1972)

Section 814.6, the Code

State v. Loye, 670 NW 2d 141 (Iowa 2003)

State v. Propps, 897 NW 2d 91 (Iowa 2017)

Rules 6.103 and 104, I.R.A.P.

Rhoades v. State, 880 NW 2d 431, 446 (Iowa 2016)

II.

WHETHER THE CONVICTION ON COUNT 3 MUST BE REVERSED

BECAUSE THE STATE FAILED TO PRODUCE SUFFICIENT EVIDENCE ON

THAT COUNT

State v. Williams, 695 N.W.2d 23 (Iowa 2005)

State v. Webb, 648 N.W.2d 72, 76 (Iowa 2002)

Section 708.7(3), the Code.

III.

WHETHER THE TRIAL JUDGE IMPROPERLY EXCLUDED

EVIDENCE OF RICHARDSON'S PRIOR BAD ACTS AND MS. LACEY'S

KNOWLEDGE OF THE PATTERNS OF DOMESTIC ABUSERS, AND ALL OF

THAT EVIDENCE WAS MATERIAL TO THE QUESTION OF WHETHER MS.

LACEY MADE CONTACT WITH RICHARDSON FOR A LEGITIMATE

PURPOSE AND WITHOUT THE SPECIFIC INTENT REQUIRED TO

COMMIT HARASSMENT

State v. Clark, 814 N.W.2d 551 (Iowa 2012)

State v. Tyler, 867 N.W.2d 136 (Iowa 2015)

State v. Taylor, 689 N.W.2d 116 (Iowa 2004)

State v. Dudley, 856 N.W.2d 668, 678 (Iowa 2014)

IV.

WHETHER THE TRIAL JUDGE ERRED IN IMPOSING A SUSPENDED ONE-YEAR JAIL SENTENCE AND SUPERVISED PROBATION BECAUSE THE DECISION WAS BASED ON ONLY ONE REASON, AND THAT REASON WAS BASED ON UNPROVEN CONDUCT

State v. Lathrop, 781 NW2d 288 (Iowa 2010)

State v. Gordon, 921 N.W.2d 19 (Iowa 2018).

State v. Thacker, 862 NW 2d 402 (Iowa 2015)

State v. Seats, 865 N.W.2d 545 (Iowa 2015)

State v. Covel, 925 N.W.2d 183 (Iowa 2018)

State v. Lambert, 612 N.W.2d 810 (Iowa 2006)

Section 901.5, the Code

State v. Laffey, 600 N.W. 2d 57 (Iowa 1999)

State v. Hildebrand, 280 NW 2d 393 (Iowa 1979)

State v. Lovell, 857 NW 2d 241 (Iowa 2014)

State v. Black, 324 NW 2d 313 (Iowa 1982)

State v. Sailer, 587 NW 2d 756 (Iowa 1998)

Section 903.1(b)

ROUTING STATEMENT

The Supreme Court should retain this appeal because it presents an issue of first impression as to whether the Court should consider a verdict and sentence on one count to trigger the appeal process on that count, when other counts are set for retrial. Should the Court rule that any such sentence is not a final judgment and require an Appellant to delay filing a Notice of Appeal for direct appeal until all counts are fully disposed?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

NATURE OF THE CASE: This is a direct appeal Defendant Latrice L. Lacey takes after a trial by jury.

PROCEEDINGS: The County Attorney filed a Trial Information on June 14, 2018. The charges were filed in four counts. Counts 1, 2 and 4 were various charges of Domestic Abuse Assault. In Count 3, Ms. Lacey was charged with Harassment in the First Degree as a violation of Section 708.7(2) of the Code of Iowa. The charge states that on April 30, 2018, Ms. Lacey "did harass Clyde Richardson and threaten to commit a forcible felony." (Tr. Info; App. 5) The first line of the Minutes of Evidence filed the same day says: "On or about the April 30, 2018, the Defendant and Evelyn Nelson went to workplace of Clyde Richardson, McDonnell and Associates, to confront Richardson." [sic] (Minutes of Evidence, p. 2; Confidential App. 4)

The action proceeded to jury trial on March 22, 2019. The jury was unable to reach a verdict on any of the four counts. The trial judge entered the order

declaring the mistrial on March 25, 2019. (Order; App. 9) The case again proceeded to trial on September 16, 2019, before the Honorable Stuart P. Werling. The jury was again unable to reach a verdict on Counts 1, 2 and 4. On Count 3, the jury returned a verdict of guilty on the lesser offense of Harassment in the Second Degree, a serious misdemeanor. (Jury Note and Verdict Forms; App. 125-129) The complaining witness did not appear to testify at either of the trials.

The defense filed the Motion to Continue Sentencing on Count 3 on December 29, 2019. The motion advanced several reasons why the sentencing on a single count should not proceed until after all counts have been resolved by verdict or dismissal. (App. 148-150) The motion was overruled at the sentencing hearing on January 3, 2020, and Judge Werling proceeded to enter judgment of sentence on Count 3. He imposed the minimum fine and a sentence of one year of incarceration, to be suspended upon the condition of supervised probation. Ms. Lacey filed a Notice of Appeal the same day. (Order for Probation, Notice of Appeal, Sentencing Order; App. 151-157)

Appellant Lacey filed a Motion to Stay Proceedings in this Court on February 21, 2020, and on May 19, 2020, this Court issued the order directing that "the issue of whether the judgment on Count 3 is a final judgment shall be submitted with the appeal". (Motion, Order; App:158, 175)

Statement of the Facts

The story told in the facts of this case show the destructive emotional energy that can rise up and be sustained by the ongoing drive created by racism and sexual jealousy. Clyde Richardson's initial and continuing violent and threatening campaign against Ms. Lacey was not driven by the fact that she had moved him out of her home. It was driven by the fact that Latrice had fallen in love with a white man, Charley Davis. The power of Richardson's racial hate and his intent to keep that abusive campaign going were wrapped up in the statement he made to Latrice in the heat of the altercation in question. In the early morning hours of April 30, 2018, Latrice's garage was burglarized and Charley Davis's Chevy Impala that was parked inside was severely damaged on the windshield and rear window. (Ex's. E, F, H, and I; App. 14-17) (Tr. 394-396, L. 20-25, pp. 495-497, L. 9-6)) That burglary and damage to the Impala was the final event that led to Ms. Lacey seeking out and finding Richardson on that morning. After Richardson had pushed Latrice and caused her to stumble and fracture bones in her foot, Latrice attempted to leave the scene. (Tr. 508-510, L.16-16) She testified:

A. So we're about to leave. Evelyn is walking --

- **Q.** Okay. What did we see right there?
- **A.** Evelyn is walking around the front of the car to leave. I'm getting in the passenger's seat to leave.
- **Q.** What happened to stop that?
- **A.** When I got in the car, Clyde jumped in the car on top of me.
- **Q.** Did he say anything to you?
- **A.** He threatened to kill me. He said, yes, I did that last night at your house, and I'm gonna keep coming back as long as you have that white motherfucker living in your house. (Tr. 512, L. 9-20)

That threat from Richardson came after a long line of communications and actions he was using to intimidate and scare Latrice. That long line of abuse must be fully understood in order to analyze the evidentiary issues raised in the instant action.

For many years, Richardson had been a friend of Latrice's family, going back to her childhood in Chicago. Clyde was a friend of one of her older cousins. She had cousins who were the same age as her parents. In Black culture, it is not unusual to refer to an older person who is a friend of the family as "uncle".

Richardson asked Latrice to call him "uncle," even though he was not actually a relative. (Tr. 440-441, L. 5-10)

Lacey and Richardson had been roommates in Chicago in 2009 and 2010, and then Lacey went off to Des Moines to go to law school. Clyde then moved back in with his mother. Still, Clyde would stay with Latrice for periods of time at her apartment in Des Moines while he was working in that area. At one time, the two had an intimate relationship, but that ended around the time Ms Lacey was finishing law school. She graduated and passed the bar in 2013. Ms. Lacey continued to work as an attorney and lobbyist in Des Moines until she was hired by the City of Davenport Civil Rights Commission to be its Director. After renting a home for some time, Ms. Lacey purchased a house in Davenport in 2015. (Tr. 438-443, L. 12-19)

Richardson had lived in Chicago since the end of 2012, but again, he would stay at Latrice's house in Davenport for periods of time starting in 2016, as he was working in Davenport. He stayed in the guest room. Ms. Lacey had a teenage daughter. She was about 13 when Latrice bought the home in 2015. In the spring of 2017, Richardson had finally gotten his own apartment in Davenport. Ms. Lacey had helped him move into his new place. At trial, there was a contested fact as to whether Clyde made that move before or after April 30, 2017. The legal

definition for the one-year period from cohabitation status was an element for domestic abuse charges arising from the occurrences of April 30, 2018. The defense contended Clyde moved out of Ms. Lacey's home in middle to late April, while the State maintained he actually moved out May 1, 2017, just one day inside the one- year time span in question. (Tr. 443-445, L. 25-22)(Tr. Ex. 5)

The events that led up to the date of the 2018 occurrence began to unfold about five months after Richardson moved out of Latrice's home. In September of 2017, Latrice started dating Charley Davis, and she did inform Richardson in October that she was dating someone. (Tr. 450-451, L. 20-8)

The text messages Latrice received from Clyde after that disclosure were creating fear in Latrice. She is a black woman. Clyde is a black man. (Tr. 267-268, L. 20-10, p. 270, pp. 481, L. 7-16) (Trial Ex. 10; App. 11) Clyde had found out that Charley is a white man in October of 2017. It was not until January 27, 2018 that Richardson met Charley Davis. Richardson showed up at Latrice's house unannounced when she was there with Mr. Davis. Clyde did shake Charley's hand when he met him, but as he was leaving, he let Latrice know he was upset with her relationship with Charley. In a private conversation at the back door, he told Latrice he should push her down the basement steps and kill her. In a followup text message to her that night he reminded her: "I meant what I said."

Latrice took that message to mean that he meant what he said about murdering her when they were standing at the back door. After that, Richardson's text messages became more violent. (Tr. 450-456, L. 20-5, pp. 466-470, L. 12-10) (Ex. Q, p. 1; App. 19)

Latrice then blocked texts from Richardson. On January 29, Richardson showed up at Latrice's house again. After she blocked his number, Latrice had not been having any phone contact with Clyde for a couple of days. He showed up at her house again with no prior warning. Charley was again at Latrice's house and this time her daughter was home, also. Latrice answered the knock at the back door. Clyde is there. His eyes are bloodshot and watery, and he is slurring his speech. He was asking to come into the house. Latrice is whispering, telling him he cannot enter. Richardson pushed past her and started storming into the house, after saying again that he should push her down the basement stairs. Latrice followed him, still whispering, trying to keep him from causing a scene in front of her daughter. Clyde went up to the second floor and the attic to get a tarp and spackling tool he had left at the house. (Tr. 470-472, L. 11-25)

When he got back to the main floor, Clyde looked into the living room to see Latrice's daughter and Charley. He waved at them, and started walking toward the back door. Latrice followed him to make sure he would leave. He opened the

back door, but then stood in front of the door so it could not close. Richardson then told Ms. Lacey he would not leave until she gave him her Playstation 2. It did not belong to him. It was Latrice's game system. She told him he needed to leave. She said she would call the police. Richardson grabbed her watch and broke the metal band after she started to make the call with her watch. At that point, Latrice yelled for her daughter to bring her phone. Charley had already taken his sleeping pills for a sleep disorder. (Tr. 410, L. 13-18) (Tr. 473-476, L. 3-10)

As soon as Latrice yelled for her daughter to bring her phone, Richardson started strangling Latrice. After having trouble finding the phone at first, Latrice's daughter finally came around the corner to see Richardson's hands around her mother's neck. When Clyde saw her daughter, he took his hands off Latrice's neck and took a step back outside. Latrice slammed the screen door and locked it. She slammed the inner door and locked it. Then, she called 911. (Tr. 476-477, L. 11-20) Latrice's daughter testified at trial as to coming around the corner and seeing Richardson's hands around her mother's neck. (Tr. 420-422, L. 7-19)

The police officer who responded to Latrice's home on January 29, 2018, seemed to be most amazed by that fact that a black woman owned that house.

Latrice gave him Richardson's name and home address and told him where he worked. The officer eventually told Latrice he did not see any sign of injury on her

neck, and he asked her if she would like to look in a mirror to see if she could find any mark showing an injury. Because she is Black, Latrice did not expect to be able to find red marks, bruising or any other sign of injury on her neck, but she did check in the mirror. That police officer did admit at trial that Latrice informed him her daughter had seen Richardson's hands around her neck. He chose not to speak with her daughter. No charges were filed. (Tr. pp. 359-365, L. 7-19, pp. 364-365, L.8-3, pp. 478-482, L. 5-5)

After the assault on January 29, Latrice then took the block off Richardson's texts because she believed he might make admissions as to strangling her. (Tr. 463-464, L. 6-2) The text messages then kept coming from Richardson from the end of January through April of 2018. He also was constantly calling Latrice to leave voicemails and parking outside of her place of employment at night. She was afraid to be out at night. Latrice explained:

Q. Okay. And the text messages that you received, how did you perceive them? What was your -- How do they affect you?

A. I was afraid to go outside at night. I used to go to the gym pretty late at night because that would be when I got home from work, so I stopped going because I was afraid to go outside at night by myself. He was texting and calling almost every day.

Q. After there -- Was it you saying he was calling in addition to the text messages?

A. Yes. He was showing up at my job. He was --

Q. Oh.

A. Yes.

Q. You didn't have to have contact with him when he came to your job, did you?

A. He would just be sitting outside because I stay at work late sometimes. So he would just park on Harrison and sit and watch me get into my car. (Tr. 464, L. 1-20)

Richardson's texts and phone messages constantly urged Latrice to meet with him. On February 13, 2018, Richardson said in a text: "I'm not threatening you in no shape or form. I'm just saying Happy Valentine's Day. Love, O.J."

Latrice took that as a threat to kill her because "O.J. Simpson murdered his ex-wife and her boyfriend and slit their throats". That text caused great fear because

Latrice was not home when she received it. Her daughter had texted her about the same time and said Richardson was at their home. (Tr. 482-485; L. 6-9) (Trial Ex. N; App. 18)

The texting and calls continued to April 27. Richardson was also showing up outside of Latrice's house, and saying by text that he wanted to speak with Latrice and Charley at her house. They never spoke to him. He stole things out of Ms. Lacey's garage. He asked if Latrice would go out to breakfast or dinner with him or meet him at his place of employment. Latrice was too afraid to have Richardson come to her house, or to go anywhere with him. From this ongoing line of constant contacts, Latrice concluded Richardson was not going to "stop doing things to her" until she talked to him. (Tr. 485-494, L. 10-3) (Ex. Q; App. 19-67)

The burglary of Latrice's garage and damage to Charley's car on April 30 was the last thing Clyde did to Latrice that finally forced her to talk to him. Latrice was on the phone with her friend, Evelyn, that morning when Charley came back into the house to tell her what had happened in the garage. Latrice went out to see the service door of the garage was kicked in, and the deadbolt had broken the door frame. The front and back windshields of Charley's Impala were "bashed in." A mini-sledgehammer was laying on the garage floor next to the car. A witness would later describe that hammer as weighing two to three pounds. (Tr. 200, L. 1-16; 495-496, L. 9-12) (Ex's E - I; App. 14-17)

At that point, Latrice developed a plan to get her daughter to school and to make a complaint in person on the burglary and criminal damage. She asks Charley to take her car to give her daughter a ride to school, and then he could take her car to work.. Her friend, Evelyn, agreed to pick Latrice up to give her a ride to the police station. Latrice intended to expedite the complaint process by not waiting for a police officer to respond to her house. She also was going to take the mini-sledge to the police department for fingerprints. She picked up the hammer after putting on gloves. On the way to the station, Latrice spotted Richardson's truck out in front of his place of employment, McDonnell and Associates Property Management. She asked Evelyn to drive to the business. Latrice considers the following: she has a witness with her; she knows there are video surveillance cameras on the outside of the McDonnell building; they will be out in broad daylight; and they will be at Clyde's place of employment. Latrice decides that outside in front of the McDonnell building will be a safe place to talk to Clyde. If she grants his ongoing request to talk to him, perhaps this cycle of abuse will end. (Tr. 496-500, L. 8-10) Latrice was not aware that the video cameras outside of the building were not operative. Clyde had told her in a previous conversation that the cameras worked. (Tr. 208-209. L.28-29; pp. 507-508, L. 2-15)

Evelyn and Latrice got out of the car and knocked on doors at McDonnell. At that time, Clyde's co-worker, Mark McDonnell, arrived and informed the two the business was not yet open. It was about 8:15 a.m. and opening was at 8:30. Latrice told him they wanted to talk to Clyde, and McDonnell agreed to go inside to get him. As McDonnell was going in the office door shown in State's Trial Exhibit 22, Richardson was coming out. (Tr. 500-501, L. 11-9) (Ex. 22; App. 13)

The events that transpired after Richardson came out of the office are described in great detail in Argument II, below.

ARGUMENT

I.

THE CONVICTION ON COUNT 3 ALONE, WHILE THREE

ADDITIONAL COUNTS WERE AWAITING RETRIAL SHOULD NOT HAVE
BEEN CONSIDERED A FINAL JUDGMENT FOR THE PURPOSE OF
APPEAL BECAUSE THE INTERESTS OF JUDICIAL ECONOMY ARE NOT
SERVED BY THE LITIGATION OF MULTIPLE APPEALS ON A SINGLE
CASE

PRESERVATION OF ERROR: The defense moved to continue the sentencing on Count 3 for reasons that closely track with the arguments asserted below. A written motion was filed, and the motion was argued at the top of the sentencing hearing. Obviously, the motion was overruled. (Motion; App. 148-150)(Sent Tr. 2-5, L. 5-23)

Appellant Lacey filed a Motion to Stay Proceedings in this Court on February 21, 2020. The motion pointed out that Ms Lacey was charged by Trial Information in the district court with four counts. The first jury trial ended with a hung jury on all four counts. The second jury trial resulted in a verdict of guilty on the lesser included Offense of Harassment in the Second Degree. A third trial was set for the remaining three counts. Ms. Lacey was sentenced to probation on Count 3 on January 3, 2020. The Motion for Stay maintained that several complications could arise if the appeal proceeded on one count while the other three remained unresolved, and that all those complications could be avoided if the instant appeal were stayed until there was a disposition on all of the counts set for the third trial. (Motion; App. 158-159)

The State did not resist the Motion for Stay, but by order of March 26, 2020, the Court ordered that the parties submit statements as to whether the instant appeal is from a final judgment. Ms Lacey filed a statement, the State filed a

responsive statement, and the defense filed a reply to that. On May 19, 2020, this Court issued the order directing that "the issue of whether the judgment on count 3 is a final judgment shall be submitted with the appeal". (Order; App. 175) **STANDARD OF REVIEW:** The question of whether the judge erred in refusing to continue the sentencing is reviewed for abuse of discretion. *State v. Clark*, 814 N.W.2d 551, 564 (Iowa 2012) If the Court were to decide the judge abused discretion, the remedy would be to vacate the sentence, and remand the case with instruction to forego sentencing until all counts of the Trial Information have reached final resolution.

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