IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA
Supreme Court No. 20-0030

STATE OF IOWA,
Plaintiff-Appellee,

vs.

LATRICE L. LACEY,
Defendant-Appellant.

APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT
FOR SCOTT COUNTY
THE HON. STUART P. WERLING, JUDGE

APPELLEE'S BRIEF

THOMAS J. MILLER
Attorney General of Iowa

LOUIS S. SLOVEN
Assistant Attorney General
Hoover State Office Building, 2nd Floor
Des Moines, Iowa 50319
(515) 281-5976
Louie.Sloven@ag.iowa.gov

MICHAEL J. WALTON
Scott County Attorney

ATTORNEYS FOR PLAINTIFF-APPELLEE

FINAL

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

The evidence showed that, on the morning of April 30, 2018, Lacey and her friend (Evelyn) went to McDonnell & Associates to confront Clyde Richardson over Lacey's belief that Richardson was the person who broke into her garage and vandalized her vehicles. The confrontation was recorded by a video camera that was positioned across the street (but it was far away, and the video's low resolution makes it unclear, even when zoomed in). *See* State's Ex. 13 & 13A.

Mark McDonnell saw Lacey as he was arriving for work (before the business opened), and he entered the building just as Richardson stepped outside to talk to them. *See* TrialTr. 177:5–182:15. After he went inside, he “heard a thud on the glass” and turned around to see “[Richardson] was being pushed up against the glass by Ms. Lacey.” *See* TrialTr. 181:8–184:3. While Lacey was pushing on “[h]is chest,” Lacey was saying “something about him breaking into her garage and stealing her stuff,” and she was also asking Richardson if this was “the reaction [he was] looking for” using a tone of voice that was “loud and kind of yelling at him.” *See* TrialTr. 183:5–184:13. Richardson said he did not know what she was talking about. McDonnell saw Lacey “raise up her knee like she was trying to knee [Richardson] in the groin,” and “[s]he struck him a few times with her arms [and] hands.” *See* TrialTr.

184:14–185:8. Richardson “put his arms up” in a way that looked like “he was trying to protect himself”—and as Richardson did that, Lacey “continued to keep swinging at him [and] yelling at him.” *See* TrialTr. 185:9–21; *accord* TrialTr. 192:6–194:1; State’s Ex. 13A, at 1:00–1:20. At one point, Evelyn went to the trunk of Lacey’s car and got out a baseball bat, which caused Richardson to turn his attention to her and ask what she was going to do with it—but Richardson never did anything to attack, threaten, or attempt to disarm Evelyn. *See* TrialTr. 195:6–196:13. At that point, Lacey ducked into the passenger seat of the vehicle, emerged with a sledgehammer, and charged Richardson:

She struck Clyde in the arm. And then she swang at him again, and at that point, he had grabbed hold of the sledgehammer and the two of them were, like, trying to control where it was going. Clyde had ended up pulling it out of her hands, and he threw it down on the ground.

See TrialTr. 196:14–200:19; *accord* State’s Ex. 13A, at 2:32–3:00.

Emily Gordon heard “a lot of loud yelling” and saw a group of people in what was “clearly some sort of dispute,” and she called 911. Gordon did not “stick around to see what was happening,” but she did hear a woman’s voice—it was yelling, swearing, and making threats:

I remember it was a woman’s voice that was yelling really loudly, and I remember lots of swearing, because, again, it was 8 in the morning. You’re walking to your car, and instantly it’s, like, really loud.

[. . .]

I know I heard the F word several times and some things that sounded like threats. I'm trying to think of the specifics. Something about somebody — I'm gonna beat you. But there were several swear words.

TrialTr. 260:2–264:13. McDonnell had testified that he had heard Lacey using a tone of voice that was “loud and kind of yelling,” and that her yelling included “something about [Richardson’s] mother” and “something along the lines of her being a cock-sucking whore.” *See* TrialTr. 184:7–186:3. There was no evidence of Evelyn saying anything, other than her response to Richardson that she would use the baseball bat if she had to; aside from that, she “[j]ust stood there holding the bat.” *See* TrialTr. 195:18–196:13.

Lacey argues that this evidence is not sufficient to support her conviction for second-degree harassment because “[i]t is most likely that [Gordon] in all the distance and haste of her actions heard Evelyn yelling at Richardson,” rather than Lacey herself. *See* Def’s Br. at 41. But Evelyn had no axe to grind—and the evidence showed Lacey did, for a number of reasons. Moreover, McDonnell testified that Lacey was “yelling” at Richardson; he did not testify that Evelyn yelled at all. *See* TrialTr. 184:7–185:21. The jury could infer that the person who was yelling was the person who yelled the things that Gordon heard.

Moreover, it is not actually necessary to find that Lacey made a *verbal* threat—her actions communicated a clear *nonverbal* threat of bodily injury. *See Evans*, 671 N.W.2d at 725. McDonnell’s testimony established that Lacey pushed Richardson “up against the glass” of the storefront while she was “loud and kind of yelling at him” about her accusation that he had wronged her. *See TrialTr.* 182:16–185:1. And as Lacey struck at him, Richardson “put his arms up . . . like he was trying to protect himself”—which would establish that Lacey had successfully communicated her threat to inflict bodily injury. *See TrialTr.* 185:2–21. A similar inference could be drawn from the video showing how Richardson ducked out of the way, as Lacey swung her sledgehammer at him. *See State’s Ex.* 13A, at 2:30–2:38.

Lacey is incorrect that this evidence was insufficient to establish that she was the person who was yelling (as McDonnell described) and that the things she was yelling included threats to inflict bodily injury (as Gordon described). Even if Lacey could defeat that proof of her verbal threats, McDonnell’s testimony and the video establish that Lacey also communicated *nonverbal* threats to inflict bodily injury on Richardson, throughout the encounter. Therefore, Lacey’s challenge to the sufficiency of the evidence on that element must fail.

III. The trial court did not abuse its discretion in excluding text messages with prejudicial content or in excluding evidence about cycles of domestic abuse.

Preservation of Error

Lacey made an offer of proof on the excluded text messages. Exhibit Q1 includes the excluded messages; Exhibit Q is the version that was admitted into evidence, which does not include them. *See* Def's Ex. Q; App. 19;² Def's Ex. Q1; App. 68; TrialTr. 527:6–24. The trial court specifically allowed admission of any text message that could reasonably be construed as a threat by Richardson to commit violence against Lacey. *See* TrialTr. 127:15–131:2. But for the ones with overtly sexual content and racial animus, the trial court ruled that those messages were not relevant in a way that outweighed their prejudicial impact, so it excluded them. *See* TrialTr. 233:1–239:21; TrialTr. 352:3–354:10; TrialTr. 457:12–458:25. That ruling preserves error for arguments about the same rationales for admission that it considered and rejected. *See Lamasters*, 821 N.W.2d at 864.

² The 49-page version of Exhibit Q is the redacted version that was admitted into evidence. *See* TrialTr. 482:14–23. EDMS also lists a different version of Exhibit Q (comprising 76 pages). That one was the original offer, including the messages that were later redacted. *See* TrialTr. 352:20–354:9. Only the 49-page version was admitted. All of the State's citations to Exhibit Q are referring to the 49-page version. For the excluded messages, the State will cite Exhibit Q-1.

Lacey’s attempt to testify about patterns of domestic abuse drew a timely objection from the State. *See* TrialTr. 456:6–457:5. The court ruled that evidence about cycles of domestic abuse was not relevant to prove Lacey’s justification defense, in this particular case. *See* TrialTr. 459:4–462:6; *see also* TrialTr. 348:11–355:6. But Lacey did not make an offer of proof to establish what her testimony *would have been*, so it is impossible to gauge the impact of the alleged error. *See State v. Windsor*, 316 N.W.2d 684, 688 (Iowa 1982) (“[P]rejudice will not be presumed or found when the answer to the question was not obvious and the proponent made no offer of proof.”); *accord State v. Leedom*, 938 N.W.2d 177, 191–92 (Iowa 2020) (finding error was not preserved on challenges to evidentiary rulings when no offer of proof was made). Thus, error is not preserved for this portion of Lacey’s challenge.

Standard of Review

Rulings concerning the probative value, prejudicial impact, and admissibility of evidence are reviewed for abuse of discretion. *See, e.g., Einfeldt*, 914 N.W.2d at 784.

Merits

Lacey argues that evidence of Richardson’s obscene and profane text messages and evidence of Lacey’s generalized knowledge about

cycles of domestic abuse were both relevant, for the same reason that prior acts of domestic abuse were relevant in *State v. Taylor*: as circumstantial evidence on the contested element of the defendant's state of mind. See Def's Br. at 50–54 (citing *State v. Taylor*, 689 N.W.2d 116 (Iowa 2004)). Specifically, Lacey argues that they were relevant to show “whether [she] initiated the in-person contact with a ‘legitimate purpose’ of nonviolent conflict resolution in her mind.” See Def's Br. at 53. This is a bad argument for four reasons.

First, it does not matter why Lacey *initiated* the interaction. What matters is whether Lacey had “legitimate purpose” for the personal contact that satisfied the other elements. If she arrived with the best of intentions, but flew off the handle and shouted threats of bodily injury with a specific intent to threaten, intimidate, or alarm, then that would still be second-degree harassment *unless* everything Lacey said with that specific intent was said with “legitimate purpose.” See *State v. Evans*, 672 N.W.2d 328, 331 (Iowa 2003) (“Because there must be a specific intent to threaten, intimidate, or alarm, the only legitimate purpose that will avoid the criminal status . . . would be a legitimate purpose to threaten, intimidate, or alarm.”); accord *State v. Happe*, No. 19–0144, 2020 WL 4497428, at *3–4 & n.4 (Iowa Ct.

App. Aug. 5, 2020). Most of Lacey’s argument is a red herring, because Lacey’s original intent in seeking out Richardson is not something that jurors needed to determine—it cannot anchor a theory of relevance.

Second, Lacey was permitted to introduce more than half of the proffered text messages, including a threat referencing O.J. Simpson. *See* Def’s Ex. Q; App. 19; *see also* TrialTr. 466:12–468:13; TrialTr. 482:25–494:3. Lacey also testified (and offered testimony from other witnesses from her family) that Richardson allegedly strangled her. *See* TrialTr. 470:11–482:5; *see also* TrialTr. 386:17–393:14; TrialTr. 415:9–423:12. Because other evidence that served the same purpose as the excluded evidence was admitted, Lacey cannot establish any abuse of discretion or any prejudicial error from exclusion of that cumulative material—especially when the excluded messages were kept out because they contained extraneous inflammatory material. “Weighing probative value against prejudicial effect is not an exact science,” and appellate courts “give a great deal of leeway to the trial judge who must make this judgment call.” *See State v. Putman*, 848 N.W.2d 1, 10 (Iowa 2014) (quoting *State v. Newell*, 710 N.W.2d 6, 20–21 (Iowa 2006)). The trial court did not abuse its wide discretion by excluding text messages that were similar to the admitted messages,

but with racial animus and sexual obscenities that were not relevant to any claim or defense at issue, and were really offered to imply that that Richardson was a bad person who deserved any injury he got.

Third, and relatedly, Lacey's argument that providing this evidence would have *helped* her defense is illogical. More shocking text messages would have only undermined Lacey's claim that she expected a reasonable conversation. Lacey argues she was "entitled to show the jury the depth of Richardson's racial hatred and his crude, offensive, assaultive way of intimidating her." *See* Def's Br. at 55–56. But that could not help Lacey argue that she went to confront him with some expectation of civil dialogue. Instead, it would only make it *more* reasonable to infer that Lacey went to confront Richardson with some other intent that would establish the crimes charged: either to threaten or intimidate him into changing his behavior (which would help prove harassment) or to act on her anger and exact vengeance (which would prove the specific intent required for assault charges).

Similarly, testimony from Lacey that she understood patterns and cycles of domestic abuse would have made it obvious that, if her purpose had *really* been to convince Richardson not to contact her (and not to exact some sort of vengeance), then she would have gone

straight to the police instead of seeking an unmediated confrontation with someone who she believed was attempting to ensnare her in a cycle of abuse and reconciliation. Generalized knowledge about cycles of domestic abuse would make her *less* likely to harbor “the belief that Richardson’s abuse was not going to have any chance to end unless she granted his request to talk to her.” *See* Def’s Br. at 56. It is called a “cycle” because reconciliation does not end the abuse—it just ensnares the other partner and restarts the cycle. *See State v. Rodriguez*, 636 N.W.2d 234, 246 (Iowa 2001) (noting BWS expert testimony helped to put reconciliation and “good times” into proper context as part of a “cycle of violence”). And generalized knowledge about domestic abuse would make it much more damning that Lacey lied to the police and claimed that she never had an intimate relationship with Richardson, and it would demolish her explanation that she lied to police because Richardson told her to. *See* TrialTr. 555:10–556:4; *cf.* State’s Ex. 4.

To summarize this third point: Lacey’s explanations for her actions would be *less* credible if the jury saw the unredacted messages or if she had testified to familiarity with dynamics of domestic abuse. Lacey cannot establish that she was prejudiced by exclusion of any of this evidence; it only would have helped the State to prove her guilt.

Fourth, any error is harmless because the video showed what it showed, and McDonnell and Gordon heard Lacey shouting threats of violence that would be unaffected by testimony about text messages or generalized patterns in cycles of domestic abuse. *See* TrialTr. 183:5–185:21; TrialTr. 192:6–194:1; TrialTr. 260:2–264:13; State’s Ex. 13A, at 1:00–1:20 and at 2:30–2:38. Harmless error is also established because Lacey’s testimony about her knowledge of domestic abuse would only matter if jurors believed Lacey—and the State presented video evidence that contradicted and disproved Lacey’s testimony on non-collateral matters, in ways that made it impossible to credit any of her testimony. Lacey admitted that she had lied to the police about whether she had ever had an intimate relationship with Richardson (which was relevant and non-collateral on the “domestic” element of domestic abuse assault charges). *See* TrialTr. 555:10–556:4; *see also* State’s Ex. 4 & State’s Ex. 9; TrialTr. 532:21–535:21. Lacey also lied to the police about what happened, and she lied about what she told them in her testimony. *See* TrialTr. 324:9–333:2; TrialTr. 536:7–538:15; TrialTr. 543:3–546:7. She lied when she denied sending text messages that she had obviously sent to Richardson. *See* TrialTr. 524:5–526:21; TrialTr. 532:7–20; TrialTr. 560:19–563:22. Lacey could not even be

honest about things that were observable from the video footage, as blurry as it was. *See* TrialTr. 507:12–509:21; TrialTr. 547:24–550:18. Exclusion of evidence with any conditional relevance that depended on Lacey’s credibility would be harmless, because it would have been clear to jurors that they could not believe anything she said.

The trial court summarized Lacey’s relevance theory as an attempt to admit this evidence to show that “she is now a victim and therefore justified in attacking somebody who she feels attacked her.” *See* TrialTr. 461:12–462:6. The trial court was correct to find that all of the excluded evidence was not admissible because it did not logically tend to prove or disprove any element or claim that was at issue, and any minimal probative value would be outweighed by the clear risk of unfair prejudice. Therefore, Lacey’s challenges fail.

IV. The sentencing court did not abuse its discretion.

Preservation of Error

Generally applicable rules of error preservation do not apply to this claim. Lacey may challenge the sentencing decision for the first time on appeal. *See State v. Ayers*, 590 N.W.2d 25, 27 (Iowa 1999).

Standard of Review

“Appellate review of the district court’s sentencing decision is for an abuse of discretion.” *Evans*, 672 N.W.2d at 331–32 (citing *State v. Laffey*, 600 N.W.2d 57, 62 (Iowa 1999)).

Merits

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